IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. _____

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, CASE NO. 89-1338

CARL VALENTINE, et al.,
TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES,

Petitioner(s),

vs .

ALAN PAGE,

Respondent.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONER, TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES ON JURISDICTION

CARMAN, BEAUCHAMP & SANG, P.A. 600 West Hillsboro Boulevard Suite 210 Deerfield Beach, Florida 33441 (305) 426-4401

-and-

RHEA P. GROSSMAN, P.A. 2710 Douglas Road Miami, Florida 33133-2728 (305) 448-6692

Counsel for Petitioner, Town of Lake Clarke Shores

TABLES OF CONTENTS

<u>Pa</u> s	se
TABLE OF CITATIONS i	i
STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION	1

JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE:	
THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, IN THE CASE AT BAR IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH PRESENT FLORIDA AND FEDERAL LAW WHICH GRANTS A MUNICIPALITY COMMON LAW (and STATE STATUTORY) SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY WHEN SUED IN A STATE COURT UNDER THE FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1871, 42 U.S.C. §1983, AND FURTHER REQUIRES, IN ORDER TO WAIVE THAT IMMUNITY, THAT THE PLEADINGS AGAINST SAID MUNICIPALITY SET FORTH SUFFICIENT CIRCIUMSTANCES TO QUALIFY THE MUNICIPALITY AS A @'PERSON@'	
CONCLUSION	
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	
APPENDIX 9	
INDEX TO APPENDIX	

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>Cases</u> : <u>Page(s)</u>
Cauley v. City of Jacksonville, 403 So.2d 379 (Fla. 1981)
City of Rivera Beach v. Langevin, 522 So.2d 857 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) 4,6
Gamble v. Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 779 So.2d 1509 (11th Cir. 1986) 4,5
Hill v. Department of Corrections, State of Florida, 513 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1987) 1,2,3,5,6
Howlett v. Rose, 537 So.2d 706 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989) 1,2,6,3
Monell v. Department of Social Services, 436 So.2d 658, 91 S.Ct. 2018, (1978)
Ramah Navajo School Board v. Bureau of Revenue, 104 N.M. 302, 720 P.2d 1243 (N.M.App.), cert. denied, U.S, 107 S.Ct. 423 (1986)
Other authorities:
§13, Article 10, Florida Constitution 4,
42 U.S.C. §1983
Eleventh Amendment, United States Constitution
Florida Statutes 8786.28 (2)

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Petitioner, TOWN OF LAKE **CLARKE SHORES,** is seeking to have this Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Rules 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) and 9.120, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure and Article V, Section 3(B)(4), Florida Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Course of Proceedinss:

On August 3, 1987, Respondent filed an Amended Complaint in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Palm Beach County, Florida (App.13-20). Petitioner, TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES, was a named defendant.

On May 24, 1989, the trial court entered a Partial Judgement on the Pleadings (App.12), dismissing the Petitioner on the authority of Hill v. Dept. of Corrections, 513 \$0.2d 129 (Fla. 1987) and Howlett v. Rose [Grey, et al.], 537 \$0.2d 706 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989).

The Respondent filed an interlocutory appeal and on September 6, 1989, the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, filed its **per** <u>curiam</u> opinion reversing and remanding the matter to the trial court (App.1-3).

A timely Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing <u>En Banc</u>, and Motion for Supreme Court Certification was filed (App.4-10). All motions were denied by the appellate court on December 14, 1989 (App.11).

This appeal is taken to review the <u>per curiam</u> opinion dated September 6, 1989.

B. The Facts (as limited to the brief on jurisdiction):

The facts as plead in the Amended Complaint (App.13-20) allege that the Petitioner, TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES, had allowed the Respondent, who was a probationary police officer, through its police chief, and in violation of his First Amendment Rights, to "wrongfully terminate(d) Plaintiff's employment..."

The Petitioner raised the defense of sovereign immunity.

The trial court's Order (App.12) reflected the Petitioner's argument that a municipality such as the TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES, is afforded common law sovereign immunity protections, and Florida Statutes 786.28 (2) does not act as a waiver of that immunity in a federal civil rights action seeking damages for a singular act affecting one individual which is filed against a municipality in a state court.

In reversing the Order of the trial court (App.1-3), the Fourth District Court of Appeal specifically determined:

- (1) The trial court had subject matter jurisdiction of 42 U.S.C. 1983 actions a finding that was never made an issue by this Petitioner;
- (2) The cases of <u>Howlett</u> v. Rose, 537 So.2d 706 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989) and Hill v. Department of Corrections, 513 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1987, cert. denied, ____ U.S. ____, 108 S.Ct. 1024 (1988) "are inapt because they do not concern municipalities; and
- (3) Monell v. Department of Social Services of <u>City of New York</u>, 436 U.S. 658, 98 S.Ct, 2018 (1978) allows an individual to

sue a municipality as was done in the case, sub judice.

POINT ON APPEAL (Jurisdiction)

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, IN THE CASE AT BAR IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH PRESENT FLORIDA AND FEDERAL LAW WHICH GRANTS A MUNICIPALITY COMMON LAW (and STATE STATUTORY) SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY WHEN SUED IN A STATE COURT UNDER THE FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1871, 42 U.S.C. §1983, AND FURTHER REQUIRES, IN ORDER TO WAIVE SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY, THAT THE PLEADINGS AGAINST SAID MUNICIPALITY SET FORTH SUFFICIENT CIRCUMSTANCES TO QUALIFY THE MUNICIPALITY AS A "PERSON"?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the <u>Per Curiam</u> opinion rendered by the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, in the case at bar (App.1-3), the Fourth District specifically excluded the Petitioner from relying upon the defense of sovereign immunity when sued in a state court for federal civil rights abuses because it is a municipality and not within the protection of Florida Statutes \$786.28(2). This reasoning is in direct conflict with this Court's opinion in <u>Cauley v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 403 \$0.24 379 (Fla. 1981).

Second, the opinion rendered herein, directly conflicts with the opinion of <u>Hill v. Dept.</u> of <u>Corrections</u>, 513 50.2d 129 (Fla. 1987) which allows for the waiver of common law sovereign immunity under F.S. 0768.28 (1) only "under circumstances in which the state or such agency or subdivision, if a private person, would be liable to the claimant..."

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, IN THE CASE AT BAR IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH AND FEDERAL LAW WHICH PRESENT FLORIDA MUNICIPALITY COMMON LAW (and STATE STATUTORY) SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY WHEN SUED IN A STATE COURT UNDER THE FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1871, 42 U.S.C. §1983, AND FURTHER REQUIRES, IN ORDER TO WAIVE SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY, THAT THE PLEADINGS AGAINST SAID MUNICIPALITY SET FORTH SUFFICIENT CIRCUMSTANCES TO QUALIFY THEMUNICIPALITY "PERSON"

Since the Fourth District's opinion in <u>City of Riviera Beach</u>
v. <u>Langevin</u>, **522 So.2d 857** (Fla. 4th DCA **1987**), there has been a
direct conflict with all other appellate tribunals in this state,
as well as the federal interpretation of sovereign immunity and
civil rights actions. The opinion (App.1-3) sought to be reviewed
in the case at bar is another example of the conflicting philosophy
and law with the Fourth District and all other courts.

Florida recognizes that the State, which includes its agencies, subdivisions and municipalities, is protected from liability by common law sovereign immunity when sued in its own state courts. This common law doctrine of sovereign immunity may be waived, by general law, as provided in 013, Article 10, Florida Constitution. Cauley v. City of Jacksonville, 403 So.2d 379 (Fla. 1981); Gamble v. Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 779 So.2d 1509 (11th Cir. 1986). Florida Statutes §768.28 is a clear and unequivocal waiver of sovereign immunity. The Florida Supreme Court, however, has determined, in responding to a certified question from the Third District Court of Appeal, that Florida Statutes §768.28 does not act as a waiver of common

law sovereign immunity when liability arises under 42 U.S.C. §1983. Hill v. Department of Corrections, State of Florida, 513 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1987).

A corollary to common law sovereign immunity which is applicable and applied when a state (or its agencies, subdivisions, municipalities, etc.) is sued in the federal courts is the Eleventh Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. The Eleventh Amendment is intended to be an absolute bar to a suit by an individual against a state of its agencies in federal court absent legitimate abrogation of immunity by Congress or waiver of immunity by the state being sued. Gamble v. Fla. Dept. of HRS, 779 F.2d 1509 (11th Cir. 1986).

In light of the above cited cases and philosophy, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has only applied the doctrine of sovereign immunity in civil rights actions wherein the State has been sued under the theory of respondent superior. See, City of Riviera Beach v. Langevin, 522 So.2d 857 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), on rehearing, at 522 So.2d at pages 866-868.

The Hill court, 513 So.2d at 131, quoting Ramah Navajo School Board v. Bureau of Revenue, 104 N.M. 302, 720 P.2d 1243 (N.M.App.), cert. denied, _____, 107 S.Ct. 423 (1986), examined the function of a state court and of a federal court in applying the two distinct concepts of sovereign immunity:

...The Eleventh Amendment shields the operation of state governments from intrusions from the federal judiciary while sovereign immunity protects state government affairs from interference by plaintiffs and state courts. [citation omitted] Therefore, when a Section

1983 suit is brought in federal court, the court analyzes whether the defendant is a "person" within the meaning of Section 1983 or, more meaningfully expressed, whether the Eleventh Amendment bars the suit from being brought against that defendant. Similarly, in Section 1983 actions brought in state courts, the court determines whether sovereign(ty) immunity bars the suit. [citation omitted]

The Second District Court of Appeal simplified the pronouncements of Hill v. Department of Corrections, in its opinion in Howlett v. Rose, 537 \$0.2d 706 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989), and which opinion was relied upon by the trial court in its Order (App.1). The Second District stated, 537 \$0.2d at 707:

***The eleventh amendment protects state government from the federal judiciary. Under the eleventh amendment, when a section 1983 action is brought against a state in federal court, the question is whether the defendant qualifies as a "person" under the act or is more properly an Eleventh Amendment protected state agency. The determination of that question in that context is a question of federal law. However, when a section 1983 action is brought in state court, the sole question to be decided on the basis of state law is whether the state has waived its common law sovereign immunity.

The <u>Howlett</u> decision conflicts with both the opinions rendered by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the case at bar and in the case of <u>City of Rivier Beach v. Langevin</u>, 522 So.2d at 866.

In fact, the opinion in the case at bar (App.1-3) specifically distinguishes the <u>Hill</u> and <u>Howlett</u> decisions as not being applicable to "municipalities".

CONCLUSION

The Petitioner, TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES, respectfully urges that there is a direct conflict between the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, in the case at bar and the decisions cited herein of this Court, the federal courts, and the other district courts of appeal. Petitioner respectfully prays this Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal pursuant to Article V, Section 3(B)(4), Florida Constitution, especially in light of this Court's acceptance of jurisdiction to decide a similar matter in Howlett V. Rose, 537 So.2d 706 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989), a case specifically distinguished by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the opinion sought to be reviewed.