FEB 9 1990

TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES,

Petitioner,

vs .

CASE NO.: 75,375 DCA-4 NO.: 89-1338

ALAN PAGE,

Respondent.

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN PAGE

(ON JURISDICTION)

JOSEPH A. VASSALLO, P.A. 3501 South Congress Avenue Lake Worth, FL 33461 (407) 964-9455

BY: ISIDRO M. GARCIA, ESQUIRE Counsel for Respondent

Florida Bar No.: 437883

Statement of Jurisdiction

Respondent contends that this Court does not have conflict jurisdiction because there is no conflict between the prior decisions of this Court and of other District Courts of Appeal and the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal below.

Statement of the Case and Facts

A. Course of Proceedinus:

Respondent substantially agrees with petitioner's representations on the course of proceedings.

B. The Facts

Petitioner glosses over important facts that this Court needs to be appraised of, and makes material misrepresentations on other matters that must be corrected.

Respondent's Amended Complaint is a two count complaint, with the Town named a defendant in each count. Count I alleges that the then police chief of the Town, Carl Valentine, terminated respondent in retaliation for respondent's exercise of his free speech rights, in this case, writing and causing to be published a letter to a local newspaper on a matter of public concern (Petitioner's Appendix, pp.13-16). The basis of the Town's liability is premised on the fact that the Town had delegated the sole authority to terminate police department employees to the chief (Petitioner's Appendix, pp.15-16). Count II is a claim against two individual defendants and the Town for causing respondent to be arrested and prosecuted on fabricated charges of impersonating a police office in retaliation for

further exercise of respondent's First Amendment rights (Petitioner's Appendix, pp.17-20).

The trial court's dismissal, contrary to petitioner's representations, was premised primarily on its erroneous belief that "...there exists no subject matter jurisdiction in State Court to sue a political entity of the State of Florida, be it the State, its agencies, a county, a municipality or an employee acting in his or her official capacity for a cause of action brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 1983." (Petitioner's Appendix, p.12). As an afterthought, the trial court added that "Florida Statute F.S. [sic] 768.28 has not waived sovereign immunity for the governmental entities encompassed by said Statute." (Petitioner's Appendix, p.12).

Petitioner's counsel also misrepresents that they did not make an issue of the trial court's "subject matter jurisdiction." In fact, the transcript of the hearing leading to dismissal of the Town shows that petitioner's trial counsel, Mr. Kenneth Carman, argued:

So, being that we are dealing with subject matter jurisdiction which can be raised at any time, we have raised this issue via a motion for judgment on the pleadings. And, it is our position with all due respect, that the Court does not have subject matter jurisdiction to hear these claims.

(Respondent's Appendix, p.5)

Relying on this argument, from which petitioner first beat a hasty retreat following the adverse ruling by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, the trial court stated at said hearing that:

pursuant to Hill versus the Department of Corrections and the like - if you would supply the case the other citation. - that there exists no subject matter jurisdiction for an individual to sue a municipal - or excuse me, a political entity of the State of Florida, be it the State, County, a municipality or the like, any political entity...

(Respondent's Appendix, p.7)

Petitioner made the same misrepresentation before the Fourth District in its Motion for Rehearing, etc. (Respondent's Appendix, pp. 18-24). Respondent there corrected the misrepresentation, as he must do again before this Court. (Respondent's Appendix, pp. 25-31). Although not strictly a matter that addresses this Court's jurisdiction, Respondent believes that in fairness to both the trial court and the Fourth District, petitioner's wilfull or reckless misrepresentations

Summary_of the Argument

should be exposed.

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in this case does not conflict with any prior decision of this Court or of any District Court of Appeal. Accordingly, there is no conflict jurisdiction in this Court to hear the appeal. In addition, the Fourth District's decision here is in harmony with United States Supreme Court precedent regarding the viability of claims brought under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 for monetary relief against municipalities, such as petitioner, Town of Lake Clarke Shores.

ARGUMENT

This Court does not have conflict jurisdiction to hear this appeal because there is no conflict between the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and prior decisions of this Court or those of other District Courts of Appeal.

As the Fourth District Court of Appeal recognized, <u>Hill</u> and <u>Howlett</u> are not applicable to the case at bar. In <u>Hill</u>, this Court decided whether a Section 1983 suit for monetary damages could be brought against <u>the state and one of its aaencies</u> in a Florida state court. 513 So.2d at 131. This Court decided the issue in the negative and held that Section 768.28, Fla. Stat., with respect to the State of Florida, had served to waive

sovereign immunity for tort actions, not for federal civil rights actions brought pursuant to Section 1983. Id. at 133. The holding in Hill is limited to the State of Florida and its agencies, and not to municipalities such as the Town of Lake Clarke Shores. Likewise, the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in Howlett, now under review by the United States Supreme Court, stands for the proposition that Section 1983 actions for monetary relief against school boards will not lie in state court. The petitioner here, Town of Lake Clarke Shores, is neither a State, an agency of the State nor a school board, hence Hill and Howlett are not applicable and there is no conflict jurisdiction in this Court.

The Fourth District's decision in Page, and before that in City of Riviera Beach v. Langevin, 522 So.2d 857 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), appeal dismissed sub nom., Darden v. Langevin, 536 So.2d 243 (Fla. 1988), both adhere to the entrenched rule of law that "[1]ocal governing bodies...can be sued directly under Section 1983 for monetary, declaratory, or injunctive relief..." Monell v. Department of Social Services of the City of New York, 436 U.S. 658, 690 (1978). The Supreme Court very recently reaffirmed this principle in Will v. Michigan Department of State Police, ____, 109 S. Ct. 2304 (1989). In Will, the Court decided that a state, or an official of the state acting in his or her official capacity, is not a "person" within the meaning and intent of Section 1983. Id. at 2308. However, Will reaffirmed the principle that a municipality, such as the Town of

Lake Clarke Shores, remains a "person" and is thus subject to Section 1983 suits. Id. at 2311.

Even if there were conflict jurisdiction in this Court, the United States Supreme Court has rejected the underlying assumption of this Court in <u>Hill</u>, and the explicit statement of the Second District in Howlett, that a governmental entity must consent before a litigant can bring a Section 1983 action against it in a state court. In Felder v. Casey, U.S. ___, 108 S. Ct. 2302 (1988), a plaintiff sued the City of Milwaukee and certain members of its police force for violations of his federal constitutional rights. Id. at 2304. The suit was brought in state court, and the Wisconsin Supreme Court dismissed plaintiff's civil rights claims, holding that plaintiff's failure to comply with Wisconsin's notice-of-claim statute barred the Section 1983 claims. Id. at 2304. The Supreme Court reversed and held that federal law pre-empted the state law requirement, even for cases pursued in state court. Id. at 2304. The Court went on to explain that

a state law that immunizes government conduct otherwise subject to suit under Section 1983 is preempted [by federal law], even where the federal civil rights litigation takes place in state court, because the application of the state immunity would thwart the congressional remedy...

Id. at 2307 [citations omitted]

Further, the Court added that

[t]he decision to subject state
subdivisions to liability for

violations of federal rights ... was a choice that Congress, not the Wisconsin legislature, made, and it is a decision that the state has no authority to override... [s]tates... may no more condition the federal right to recover for violations of civil rights than bar the right altogether, particularly where those conditions grow out of a waiver of immunity which, however necessary to the assertion of state-created rights against local governments, is entirely irrelevant insofar as the assertion of the federal right is concerned, [citation omitted], and where the purpose and effect of those conditions, when applied in Section 1983 actions, is to control the expense associated with the very litigation Congress has authorized.

Id. at 2309-10.

Hence, contrary to Hill's underlying assumption, and Howlett's outright declaration, the viability of claims for violations of federal civil rights are not matters for individual states to decide, since federal law pre-empts immunities that would purport to limit or altogether bar the federally created right, even when the claim is asserted in a state court. While this Court's decision in Hill is ultimately correct (since Section 1983 monetary liability cannot be imposed on the State Sua State), Howlett's belief (based on what was implicit in Hill) that state law determines the viability of a federal civil rights cause of action in state court, is flatly wrong, which perhaps explains why Howlett is presently being reviewed by the United States Supreme Court.

CONCLUSION

There is no conflict between <u>Paae</u> and this Court's decision in <u>Hill</u> and the Second District's decision in <u>Howlett</u>, since <u>Paae</u> applies to municipalities, long recognized to be subject to Section 1983 monetary liability, while <u>Hill</u> applies to the State <u>qua</u> State and <u>Howlett</u> to a school board. Petitioner's counsel is under the mistaken impression that this Court has accepted jurisdiction to review <u>Howlett</u>, when in fact this Court denied review in that case, and it is the United States Supreme Court which has granted certiorari. Regardless of the erroneous expressions of law in <u>Howlett</u>, this Court acted correctly in denying review in that case since there was no conflict between that case and <u>Lanaevin</u> (when viewed in the light that <u>Howlett</u> applies to a school board and <u>Lanaevin</u> to a municipality). As it did in <u>Howlett</u>, this Court should deny review here for lack of conflict jurisdiction.